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          1  COMMITTEE ON HEALTH

          2                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES:  Good morning,

          3  and welcome to the Committee on Health Hearing on

          4  hepatitis.  This will be an informal hearing in

          5  order to introduce to the members of this Committee

          6  and to the Council to the seriousness of this

          7  disease and how it affects Americans and New

          8  Yorkers, in particular.

          9                 Resolution 247 has been introduced by

         10  Council Member Una Clarke, and I thank her for

         11  bringing this topic before this Committee.

         12  Hepatitis is a highly contagious virus that attacks

         13  the liver and can cause permanent damage or death.

         14  Because of the symptoms that indicate liver damage

         15  such as fatigue, nausea, fever, and chills are

         16  similar to a stomach virus or flu, hepatitis very

         17  often goes undetected.  Let me say for the record,

         18  that this hearing's topic was announced fairly late,

         19  and I want to thank those who have come to testify

         20  today on such a short notice.  In fairness to the

         21  Administration, they will not come to testify today,

         22  because they needed more time to prepare for this

         23  hearing and their testimony.  I understand their

         24  reasoning and I will say and I have said already to

         25  the Administration that I intend to conduct a
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          2  follow- up hearing where the Department of Health

          3  will come before the Committee to inform us on their

          4  efforts to combat this disease.

          5                 Today we will hear from the

          6  International Hepatitis Foundation and other

          7  advocates, and before I call upon the first witness,

          8  let me introduce my colleagues and I understand that

          9  apparently there has been an accident and it has

         10  tied up a lot of people that have been trying to get

         11  here, including Council Member Clarke, who called

         12  from her car phone saying that she is stuck in

         13  traffic.

         14                 Let me begin by introducing those who

         15  are here and as they come in, I will also introduce

         16  them.  Let me also say that there are other meetings

         17  going on so if you see Council members come and go,

         18  it is not in any way being disrespectful, it's just

         19  that government keeps working even though this

         20  hearing is going on. Let me begin by introducing my

         21  colleague from the Bronx, Council Member Pedro

         22  Espada, and let me introduce our newest member to

         23  the Council and the Minority Ranking Member of the

         24  Council, Jim Oddo. Let me welcome him on behalf of

         25  not only the Speaker, my colleagues, but especially
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          2  welcome him on this Committee.  I was privileged of

          3  working with him as the Minority Ranking Member then

          4  Supreme Court Justice John Fusco, and I really

          5  enjoyed not only the friendship, but the

          6  relationship we had in terms of working together for

          7  the betterment of the people of New York City,

          8  particularly when it comes to health issues, and I

          9  look forward to having a similar, since you worked

         10  for him, Jim, I know that John will, in case you get

         11  out of hand, I know who to call.  But I want to

         12  welcome you to the Committee.  This is a rare

         13  occasion, you won't get this every day, but if you

         14  would like to have some opening remarks as the new

         15  Ranking Minority Member of this Committee, I call

         16  upon you now, if you would like to.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO:  Chairman, you

         18  know that I am new to this Committee and new to the

         19  Council as an elected member, but as a staff member

         20  for the last seven years, Fusco, my predecessor and

         21  my mentor and my friend, as his staff member I have

         22  watched as he has worked very closely with you in a

         23  bipartisan fashion, and I think, frankly, all

         24  elected officials, our colleagues and across the

         25  City and State could do well by taking a lesson from
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          2  you and John Fusco and how you worked together in a

          3  bipartisan support, and it is truly my honor, not

          4  only to be a member of this body, but to follow in

          5  his footsteps on this Committee, and I look forward

          6  to working with you.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES:  Thank you very

          8  much, Council member.  Let me call upon then, and I

          9  also failed to introduce the Counsel to the

         10  Committee, who is my Counsel and to this Committee,

         11  Jose Orengo, who will call the first witness.

         12                 MR. ORENGO:  Mr. Philippe Verheyen

         13  from the Hepatitis Foundation.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES:  Let me, again,

         15  thank you for joining us this morning, particularly

         16  because of the short notice, and let me just say for

         17  the record would you introduce again, so we

         18  understand, we don't have stenographers like we used

         19  to, now everything is technology and because it is

         20  being taped we need you to identify yourself, again,

         21  for the record and your title, and this way anyone

         22  else who testifies, we would appreciate you

         23  identifying yourselves so as when the transcript

         24  really gets written up, we know who is speaking, so,

         25  again, thank you for joining us this morning.
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          2                 MR. VERHEYEN:  I'm on now, I have a

          3  loud voice though.  Members of the Health Committee,

          4  my name is Philippe Verheyen.  I'm Chief Operating

          5  Officer of the Hepatitis Foundation International,

          6  also known as HFI.

          7                 Today I'm here to talk to you about

          8  an insidious disease that affects over five million

          9  Americans, hepatitis.  But before I begin, I want to

         10  extend an apology for my organization's Chair and

         11  CEO, Thelma King Theil.  Mrs. Theil would be here

         12  today, had she not had a scheduling conflict.  In

         13  fact, in a few hours from now, she will testifying

         14  before the Health Committee of the California State

         15  Legislature on this exact same issue.

         16                 Most of what I'm about to tell you is

         17  in the packet of information that is in front of

         18  you, along with a copy of my speech.  There is a lot

         19  of information in there and you can read it at your

         20  leisure.  Let me tell you a little about our

         21  organization. The Hepatitis Foundation International

         22  is a not- for- profit, volunteer organization that

         23  was founded five years ago.  Our mission is to focus

         24  exclusively on eliminating the hepatitis virus

         25  through public and professional education and
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          2  supporting research. The way we carry out this

          3  mission is through the following means: A quarterly

          4  newsletter; informational brochures, fact sheets,

          5  videos and posters in various languages; regional

          6  meetings with patients; an annual national congress;

          7  Patient Advocacy Councils throughout the United

          8  States; Patient Advocacy Telephone Information

          9  System for the homebound or patients who want

         10  complete discretion; a website in five languages

         11  that contains the latest information and links to

         12  other important sites, and a 24- hour information

         13  hotline for anyone to call us anytime, from

         14  anywhere.

         15                 What makes HFI unique compared to

         16  other organizations, is that we focus on prevention

         17  and the patients' needs.  We place great emphasis on

         18  their need for the latest information on research

         19  and treatments.  When Mrs. Theil founded HFI, she

         20  was very fortunate to have some of the world-

         21  renowned experts in viral hepatitis join our board,

         22  such as Dr. Raymond S. Koff, who is at Columbia

         23  Metro West in Massachusetts and Dr. Leonard B. Seeff

         24  from the National Institutes of Health.

         25                 Before I start talking to you about
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          2  the viruses themselves, let me set the stage for

          3  you.  In general, all hepatitis viruses attack the

          4  liver.  The liver is one of the most under-

          5  appreciated organs in your body.  It's about the

          6  size of a football and can be found on the right

          7  side of your body directly behind rib cage.  Without

          8  a properly functioning liver you would be unable to

          9  remove the toxins from the alcohol you drink, the

         10  drugs that you take, and the pollutants you breathe.

         11    The liver also produces clotting factors,

         12  generates bile to aid digestion, manufactures immune

         13  factors and hormones, and metabolizes protein to

         14  build muscles.  The liver is its own worst enemy,

         15  because it is a non- complaining organ.  By that, I

         16  mean, that live disorders are hard to identify

         17  because the first and only sign is extreme fatigue.

         18     Thus people can easily blame stress and over

         19  exertion as the cause of this fatigue rather than a

         20  viral infection of the liver.  And because they

         21  don't know that they are infected, they can

         22  unwittingly pass the virus onto others.

         23  Unfortunately, this could and often does, give the

         24  virus a perfect opportunity to attack the liver and

         25  cause fibrosis and cirrhosis and, if left unattended
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          2  can lead to cancer.

          3                 The hepatitis viruses themselves read

          4  like an alphabet soup.  They range from A through E.

          5    Today I am going to focus on the three most widely

          6  known and discussed:  A, B, and C.

          7                 The everyone is most familiar with is

          8  Hepatitis A. Currently, the Centers for Disease

          9  Control estimates that there are 125,000 to 200,000

         10  total infections of Hepatitis A in the United States

         11  each year.  While those numbers do not seem to

         12  indicate that we are on a brink of an epidemic, 33

         13  percent of the total U.S. Population has some

         14  evidence of past infection.  Also, 22 percent of

         15  adult Hepatitis A patients require hospitalization.

         16  Symptoms for HAV or Hepatitis A are jaundice,

         17  fatigue, loss of appetite, and diarrhea.  A very

         18  successful vaccine is available against Hepatitis A.

         19    The HAV is a self- limiting disease, and almost

         20  everyone who gets it recovers.  Though I must tell

         21  you that each year there are about 100 deaths

         22  attributable to fulminant Hepatitis A.

         23                 The way most people get this disease

         24  is through the oral/fecal route and food or

         25  waterborne outbreaks.  The good news is that we can
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          2  avoid getting this disease entirely because there is

          3  a highly effective vaccine.  Public education and a

          4  mandatory immunization program would help bring

          5  these numbers down dramatically.

          6                 Hepatitis B is more insidious than

          7  Hepatitis A. First, the good news, between 90 to 95

          8  percent of those persons who contract Hepatitis B

          9  recover with treatment.  Then the bad news, 5 to 10

         10  percent do not recover, and they become chronically

         11  infected. The CDC estimates that there is between 1

         12  to 1.25 million Americans with chronic Hepatitis B.

         13  In the proper setting, it is 100 times more

         14  infectious than HIV.

         15                 The rate of infection has been

         16  dropping since 1993, but there are still an

         17  estimated 140,000 to 320,000 new infections each

         18  year in the United States.  As in the case of

         19  Hepatitis A, these new vaccines are totally

         20  avoidable because there is a vaccine.  The vaccine

         21  has been available since 1982.

         22                 Symptoms of HBV are very similar to

         23  that of Hepatitis A.  The difference between the two

         24  is in the mode of transmission, which in the case of

         25  Hepatitis B is bloodborne, sexual, and perinatal.
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          2  What makes Hepatitis B more insidious than Hepatitis

          3  A is that it directly causes 8,400 to 19,000

          4  hospitalizations and between 140 to 320 deaths each

          5  year.  There is no cure for chronic carriers.  The

          6  best they can hope for is to manage the disease

          7  through a treatment of interferon.  But success is

          8  not a guarantee.

          9                 In our opinion, mandatory

         10  immunization of all children and public education

         11  about the high risk factors, such as body piercing,

         12  tattooing, and unprotected sex would help bring

         13  these numbers down and prevent chronic infection.

         14                 The last virus I am going to talk to

         15  you about this morning is the silent killer,

         16  Hepatitis C.  The Chiron Corporation identified this

         17  virus in 1988.  Before then the virus was known as

         18  hepatitis non- A, non- B.

         19                 This virus account for 20 percent of

         20  all cases of acute hepatitis; it is a serious

         21  infection that can lead to chronic hepatitis,

         22  cirrhosis and liver cancer.  There are 3.9 million

         23  Americans chronically infected with Hepatitis C.

         24  Every year there are anywhere from 36,000 to 230,000

         25  new infections in the United States.  The CDC
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          2  estimates that between 8,000 and 10,000 patients die

          3  each year from Hepatitis C.  Seventy percent of

          4  those infected have chronic liver disease.  The most

          5  startling statistic is that the CDC estimates that

          6  this virus causes half of the liver transplants in

          7  this country.

          8                 The main route of transmission for

          9  Hepatitis C is primarily bloodborne.  Risk behaviors

         10  are injected drug use, blood transfusions prior to

         11  June 1992, body piercing, tattooing, and sharing the

         12  razors and toothbrushes of those who have had the

         13  disease.  It is rarely transmitted through sexual

         14  contact, but certainly possible.  There is no

         15  vaccination and treatment is effective in only 15 to

         16  30 percent of patients.  The treatment is either

         17  monotherapy of interferon or the combination therapy

         18  of interferon and ribavirin that was approved by the

         19  FDA last June.

         20                 This concludes my brief summary of

         21  these viruses. As you can see from the numbers,

         22  hepatitis is a very serious disease.  Certainly,

         23  mandatory immunization can help curtail, if not

         24  eliminate two of the three viruses I mentioned,

         25  Hepatitis A and Hepatitis B.  Patients who have
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          2  Hepatitis C should also get immunized against these

          3  two viruses to avoid co- infection.  And we

          4  certainly need to push the federal government to

          5  make more funds available for research to help find

          6  a cure and treatments for these viruses.

          7                 Thank you for being so attentive and

          8  giving us, the Hepatitis Foundation International,

          9  an opportunity to speak with you today.  We look

         10  forward to working with you to help eradicate these

         11  diseases.  Thank you.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES:  Thank you very

         13  much.  I guess, let me first make some

         14  introductions, and then I think you have a video

         15  that you want to show?

         16                 MR. VERHEYEN:  Yes, Sir.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES:  Let me also say

         18  that we have joined by my colleague who represents

         19  parts of Manhattan and the Bronx, Council Member

         20  Phil Reed, and the introducer of Reso. 247, Council

         21  Member Una Clarke, of which I will call upon her, I

         22  believe she has some opening remarks.  Council

         23  Member Clarke.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE:  Thank you,

         25  Mr. Chairman, I hate to start out the day with an
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          2  apology for being late, but then when there are

          3  accidents on the bridge and you get backed up in

          4  Brooklyn, it's very hard to get to Manhattan.  But

          5  I'm extremely pleased that you have come this

          6  morning, and to thank my colleague, Council Member

          7  Robles' Chair, and all my colleagues on the Health

          8  Committee for bringing this Reso. To the floor today

          9  for a hearing.           I had dinner with a

         10  gentleman from the Center for Disease Control, was a

         11  doctor who has been researching hepatitis, and he

         12  said to me, why don't you do something about it

         13  because it has it's potential for being even more

         14  deadly than AIDS have been, and once he said that, I

         15  said, oh, my Lord, oh, no, not another on us in the

         16  City of New York.  So today's hearing is the

         17  beginning of an awareness of and for educating the

         18  community about the potential and the deadliness of

         19  all of the series or Hepatitis A, B, C, or D, they

         20  all have their potential for human disaster.

         21                 And so I am pleased that you have

         22  come, and I know that the Chair and this Health

         23  Committee will now try to make sure that we can find

         24  out what the Health Department is doing in terms of

         25  surveillance, what are the hospitals that do
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          2  treatment, what are the specialties we have in the

          3  City of New York, and how we may go about

          4  systematically building up our own defense to make

          5  sure that we can curb this before it gets to be an

          6  epidemic in our City.  So I thank you for coming and

          7  I thank the Chair for holding this first in a series

          8  of what I think we will be hearing to prepare us for

          9  what we can do and should be doing.

         10                 I thank you.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES:  Let me, again,

         12  for the record so that we are clear, and just like

         13  Council Member Clarke apologized, let me, also,

         14  again, echo that the Administration will not testify

         15  this morning, not because they choose not to, it's

         16  because, like I said when I first opened in my

         17  remarks, the shortness of the time, and I want thank

         18  those who have joined us this morning.  And I intend

         19  to, as Council Member Clarke indicated and I said

         20  when I opened up the hearing, that my intention is

         21  to follow- up so that the Department of Health will

         22  come before the Committee and have the proper time

         23  to prepare for that oversight hearing.

         24                 But for the record, let me just say,

         25  and I think perhaps it would be interesting to you
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          2  as we perhaps watch the video and then ask some

          3  questions of you, but just to keep the record

          4  straight, in the Fiscal Year 2000 Budget, which we

          5  just had a Preliminary Budget Hearings, let me,

          6  please, note that in the City's Department of

          7  Health, there is funding for a new initiative to

          8  address the increase of the number Hepatitis C cases

          9  in the City.  The Department of Health within its

         10  budget will have $117,000 in City tax levy money to

         11  identify at risk populations to evaluate the

         12  feasibility for providing Hepatitis C testing at STD

         13  Clinics, and to launch an education and an awareness

         14  campaign aimed at health care professionals in high

         15  risk population.

         16                 So let me just say that your

         17  Resolution, Council member, comes in at a time where

         18  it is welcomed simply because you are bringing this

         19  up to the forefront, and I hope that after today's

         20  hearing and as we continue to have oversight and

         21  bring in the Department of Health, particularly the

         22  points of the Foundation and you, Sir, as Chief

         23  Operating Officer, indicating in your opening

         24  remarks, clearly, and as we get into questions,

         25  maybe you could help us in terms of based upon the
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          2  expertise and the data you have, but I think,

          3  clearly, before it is said and done, this is an area

          4  we must focus on, and I suspect that when I ask you

          5  the questions, the numbers, especially in populated

          6  areas like New York City would be one that we have

          7  to start looking at.

          8                 Let me also say that we have been

          9  joined by one of our senior members of our

         10  Committee, Council Member Jose Rivera from the

         11  Bronx, and again, before I do the video let me say

         12  that because there are other Committee's going on,

         13  and in the event my colleagues have to go to other

         14  meetings, let me do some house chores, and I see the

         15  Clerk of the Council here.  As you know Council

         16  Member Clarke's Resolution called for the

         17  appropriate Committee of the Council to hold

         18  hearings on the incidence of the hepatitis virus in

         19  the City of New York and measures for controlling

         20  and keeping track of the disease caused by the

         21  virus. And because today begins that oversight

         22  hearing, let me then ask the clerk to call the roll

         23  so that we can file the Resolution, since today we

         24  are having our hearings.

         25                 And having said that, and we have a
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          2  quorum, perhaps the clerk can call the roll.

          3                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY:  Robles.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES:  Yes.

          5                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY:  Rivera.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER RIVERA:  Yes.

          7                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY:  Clarke.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE:  Yes.

          9                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY:  Reed.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED:  Yes.

         11                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY:  Espada.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER ESPADA:  Yes.

         13                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY:  Oddo.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO:  Yes.

         15                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY:  By a vote of 6

         16  in the affirmative, none in the negative, with no

         17  abstentions, the item is filed.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES:  Let me say that

         19  I will leave the roll open because I understand that

         20  Council Member Povman and Harrison are in route.

         21  Council Member Quinn, who is a new member of the

         22  Committee, did notify me that she is not in the City

         23  today, so she will not be here, but I asked that the

         24  roll be left open for both Council Members Povman

         25  and Harrison.
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          2                 Having said that, now, maybe we want

          3  to proceed with the video.

          4                 MR. VERHEYEN:  Yes, thank you.  This

          5  video was produced last year through a grant with

          6  the CDC, Centers for Disease Control.  We have

          7  successfully shown this in numerous locations, in

          8  schools, as low as fourth graders all the way

          9  through high school.  It has been used in STD

         10  Clinics, in prison environments, and we have gotten

         11  very positive response.  It is a 9- minute video, as

         12  you will see it has lots of music, it has animation

         13  to keep the persons who are watching it interested,

         14  if we might show it.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES:  Okay.

         16                 VIDEO:

         17                 MARK:  Once upon a time this is the

         18  way kids learned about their bodies, what a time,

         19  what a place, what a health class. And, oh, yeah,

         20  group exercises, is this like working out or are

         21  these guys trying to fly?

         22                 Kids today are into things that

         23  weren't even dreamed of just a few years ago.  We're

         24  pushing ourselves to the extreme with new sports,

         25  new equipment, and that means taking care of our

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            21

          1  COMMITTEE ON HEALTH

          2  health.  We're asking questions, looking for

          3  answers, finding out what is right and wrong for our

          4  bodies.  Hey, there is a lot of people out there who

          5  believe that the three main food groups are burgers,

          6  fries and pizza.  Yeah, I mean, we have got to watch

          7  out for ourselves.

          8                 Hi, I'm Mark, and for the next 500

          9  seconds we're taking a crash course in one of the

         10  weirdest, coolest organs in our bodies.  If organs

         11  were cars, this one would be an Indy racer.  It does

         12  almost 5,000 different things to keep us alive and

         13  running at top speed.  But listen up, because most

         14  of us know zero, zilch, nada, absolutely nothing

         15  about this organ.

         16                 LISA:  Hi, I'm Lisa, got you

         17  guessing, huh?  Well, I think of an organ that is a

         18  little weird.  I always think of some guy playing a

         19  rock band.  Hey, dude, nice organ.

         20                 Well, I think it would be really cool

         21  if organs were named what they do.  Like the brain,

         22  the brain would be called a computer, right, and the

         23  heart would be called the pump, okay.  And the liver

         24  would be our, excuse me, excuse me, do I sense a

         25  little confusion and sensations out there, do I
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          2  hear, like the liver what, do I hear, like, Duh?

          3  Well, it's the liver we're talking about dudes, and

          4  knowing just a little bit about it could help keep

          5  you healthy, maybe even save your life  Interested?

          6  Thought so.

          7                 Let's start with the basics.

          8                 MARK:  You're liver is about the same

          9  size as a football, it weighs three pounds, and like

         10  a football the liver sometimes gets kicked around a

         11  lot.

         12                 LISA:  Where is the liver located?

         13  Well, it's sort of down here.  Wait, I have got a

         14  better idea, I have got a clip. Okay, the liver is

         15  sort of look like a football, but this is how it

         16  really looks.  It's made of gillion of cells that

         17  all work together to keep us healthy, not exactly

         18  eye candy, huh?

         19                 The liver is located on the upper

         20  right hand side of your abdomen and tucked under

         21  your ribs for protection.  The liver rocks, man,

         22  it's like this awesome turbo charged engine that

         23  puts out the power that keeps on the go, like

         24  protein.  Without protein from the liver, your

         25  muscles would shut off.  And energy, the liver is
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          2  like this awesome battery, it stores energy and

          3  sends it back to you when you need it.  Without your

          4  liver, you would be just like a dead battery.  The

          5  liver also makes the stuff that causes blood supply.

          6    Without your liver, you would bleed to death from

          7  just a teeny, tiny cut.  And the liver is your

          8  guardian angel, it gets rid of a lot of bad things

          9  that get in our bodies, like germs, and viruses, and

         10  the poisons in alcohol and drugs, and pesticides.

         11                 MARK:  The liver does so many

         12  different things, like a one- player football team

         13  that scores on every play, well, just about every

         14  play, but there is one little problem.  The liver is

         15  a non- complaining organ.  That means that the liver

         16  doesn't give warning signs, like pain, if it has

         17  problems.

         18                 You know what that means, it means

         19  you could majorly mess up your liver and not even

         20  know it, and there are lots of ways to do it.  Like

         21  booze, just about everyone knows that alcohol can

         22  harm your liver, even one drink can cause serious

         23  problems for some people, and drugs, even good drugs

         24  you can buy without a prescription, contain

         25  chemicals that can cause serious liver problems, and
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          2  your liver will really freak out if you take more

          3  than you should or if you mix drugs with alcohol.

          4  Even some aerosol sprays, like paint and bug killer

          5  contain chemicals that can mess up your liver, just

          6  read the warnings on the can or bottle, and if you

          7  know someone who is crazy enough to sniff glue or to

          8  use cocaine, here is more bad news.  That trash

          9  fries your liver, as well as your brain, but for

         10  kids our age, there is another liver killer we have

         11  got to guard against.  It's called hepatitis, and

         12  even though hepatitis is really serious, lots of

         13  people don't even know they have it until it's too

         14  late.

         15                 One type of hepatitis is caused by a

         16  virus that is a lot easier to catch than the virus

         17  that causes AIDS, that is Hepatitis B.

         18                 Another nasty one is Hepatitis C.

         19  Hepatitis, drugs, and alcohol attack and kill liver

         20  cells.  These dead cells are replaced by scar

         21  tissue, called cirrhosis.  And cirrhosis will cause

         22  your turbo charged engine, the liver, to stall and

         23  burn out. And when your liver shuts down, so do you.

         24                 LISA:  And this is really the sad

         25  part, thousands of people die each year from
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          2  hepatitis.  And lots of these people got it when

          3  they were kids our age.

          4                 MARK:  So if your liver doesn't warn

          5  you, how do you keep from getting hepatitis?  Here

          6  is what you have got to do, you got to:

          7                 ALL:  Respect yourself!  Protect

          8  yourself!

          9                 MARK:  Respect yourself!  Protect

         10  yourself!  The first thing you have got to do is get

         11  vaccinated for Hepatitis B.

         12                 ALL:  Vaccinated!  Vaccinated!

         13                 MARK:  Yep, vaccinated.  But the

         14  vaccination only protects you against Hepatitis B.

         15  The bad news is there is no vaccine for Hepatitis C.

         16                 Check it out.

         17                 ALL:  Respect yourself!  Protect

         18  yourself!

         19                 LISA:  Next, don't let hepatitis have

         20  a shot at you. Hepatitis is spread by blood and

         21  other body fluids.  If your skin is broken, you can

         22  get hepatitis from someone else just touching a sore

         23  or an open cut of an infected person.

         24                 ALL:  Respect yourself!  Protect

         25  yourself!
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          2                 LISA:  Be careful of needles.  If you

          3  get a tattoo, the needle could be contaminated with

          4  the blood of the person who had a tattoo before you.

          5    And if you share needles or anything sharp used by

          6  an infected person, you are risking a mass invasion

          7  of the hepatitis virus.

          8                 ALL:  Respect yourself!  Protect

          9  yourself!

         10                 LISA:  Ear and body piercing can also

         11  be dangerous. The hepatitis virus can live for days

         12  outside the body.  Hepatitis can even be spread by

         13  sharing a toothbrush or razor with an infected

         14  person.

         15                 ALL:  Respect yourself!  Protect

         16  yourself!

         17                 MARK:  And hepatitis can easily be

         18  spread by sexually contact, your health, even your

         19  life might be at risk. Talk to your parents, your

         20  school counselor or your doctor about this, the

         21  important thing to remember is that you can't tell

         22  if someone has hepatitis just by looking at them.

         23                 LISA:  And if you're feeling majorly

         24  tired and aching all over, like just plain lousy, or

         25  if you have some yellow in your eyes or skin, check
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          2  with your doctor.

          3                 ALL:  Respect yourself!  Protect

          4  yourself!

          5                 MARK:  All right, guys, let's give it

          6  up for your liver, come on.

          7                 Remember, your liver is your turbo

          8  charged engine.

          9                 LISA:  And your liver is your

         10  guardian angel.

         11                 MARK:  And finally, as if we haven't

         12  hammered this into your fertile brains, your life

         13  may depend on how well you take care of your liver.

         14                 LISA:  Don't let it get kicked

         15  around.  All right, everybody.

         16                 MARK:  All right, guys, whose going

         17  to go, Hoo, Hoo.

         18                 ALL:  Respect yourself!  Protect

         19  yourself!  Respect yourself!  Protect yourself!  Oh,

         20  yeah, get vaccinated.  Respect yourself! Protect

         21  yourself!

         22                 MR. VERHEYEN:  I would tell you,

         23  Councilman, that we are in the process of producing

         24  this video entirely a second time in Spanish, and

         25  we're, in fact, going to production later this week.

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            28

          1  COMMITTEE ON HEALTH

          2    So in a very short time, we will have two

          3  completely different versions, one in English, one

          4  in Spanish.

          5                 We also have educator primers that go

          6  with this material so that for persons in STD

          7  Clinics or teachers have a handout that they can use

          8  as a guide to use this instructional video.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES:  One of the

         10  things I will be doing is reaching out to you to see

         11  how we can get copies of them, so that perhaps this

         12  awareness, I know that not only the members of this

         13  Committee, perhaps members, in general, of the

         14  Council so that they could also, perhaps, that

         15  number and your number, so that perhaps our schools

         16  and other places so that we could, perhaps this.

         17                 Now let me ask you something, on this

         18  video, have you shown this to the Department of

         19  Health?

         20                 MR. VERHEYEN:  I can tell you that a

         21  year ago the Department of Education approved it for

         22  inclusion in their school curriculum for this year.

         23  I do not know whether it has been shown to

         24  specifically the Department of Health.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES:  May I suggest
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          2  that, and I will instruct the Counsel to perhaps get

          3  a video so that we can share it- -

          4                 MR. VERHEYEN:  Absolutely.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: - -  with

          6  Commissioner Neal Cohen, so that perhaps that could

          7  be part of the educational outreach, since there is

          8  an appropriation of funds in this budget that we're

          9  going to be dealing with pretty soon.

         10                 Let me just say before I call upon

         11  Council members for questions, and then I have some

         12  questions myself.  We have been joined by Council

         13  Member Julia Harrison from Queens, and what I will

         14  do, Julia, is, Jose, why don't you call her name?

         15  We voted to file the Resolution since we're having

         16  the hearing, and we left it open waiting, we knew

         17  that you were stuck in traffic.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER HARRISON:  Sure, and I

         19  apologize for being late, but the traffic was

         20  absolutely horrendous.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES:  You were not the

         22  only one, so Jose, why don't you just call her name?

         23                 MR. ORENGO:  Council Member Harrison.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER HARRISON:  Aye.

         25                 (Subsequently changes vote to a vote
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          2  of 7 in the affirmative, none in the negative, with

          3  no abstentions.)

          4                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES:  Thank you.

          5  Council Member Oddo.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO:  Thank you, Mr.

          7  Chairman.  Last week I received a telephone call

          8  from a constituent who was at her wits end when her

          9  15- year- old daughter came home with her belly

         10  button pierced, and I was interested to read in your

         11  testimony, here in testimony, you made references to

         12  body piercing a couple of times.  There is a piece

         13  of legislation in this City Council introduced by

         14  Chairman Robles, that would require parental consent

         15  for anybody seeking body piercing, any minor.

         16                 Could you tell me how easy is it to

         17  contract hepatitis through body piercing, and can

         18  you tell us or do you have any idea how often that

         19  takes place?

         20                 MR. VERHEYEN:  Not specifically, no,

         21  Sir.  What we can tell you it is a risk behavior, so

         22  that anything that pierces the skin and then is

         23  passed through another person, another individual.

         24  So that the risk of behavior is by piercing the skin

         25  of one person who may be infected, and then that
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          2  same needle is used for the next person down the

          3  line.

          4                 It's similar to tattooing, it's a

          5  risky behavior. And what we find in the tatoo

          6  parlors that they are now using new needles, they're

          7  sterilizing their needles, but they're using the

          8  same inkwells, so that they put in needle number one

          9  into an inkwell, they throw away the needle, and

         10  then they use the same inkwell for a new needle, so

         11  it is still being potentially transmitted.  It's

         12  strictly though a potential risk behavior.  I'm not

         13  sure that there are any hard and fast statistics in

         14  the United States.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO:  Thank you.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES:  Let me just say

         17  that when I introduced the legislation, simply

         18  because, and that was before the Council, because as

         19  you know, we recently passed local law regulating

         20  the tatoo industry in the City of New York, which

         21  was not regulated.  And before that was done, I

         22  start seeing, and maybe I'm from the old school,

         23  because in my house, may she rest in peace, my

         24  mother would never allow me to ever come home with

         25  those things.  But I saw a lot of young people, and
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          2  I'm not so much referring to late teenagers, but

          3  adolescents, young ages where they were doing that,

          4  particular tongues, all over the place.  But now

          5  that I saw this video and now that I have heard that

          6  you have said and you included both tattooing, I

          7  intend to move my bill even quicker, because I think

          8  that there is sometimes people need a shocking

          9  instrument to wake them up of what the outcome may

         10  be on that.

         11                 MR. VERHEYEN:  I might add that Matel

         12  Corporation who is currently celebrating the 40th

         13  Anniversary of the Bobbie Doll, for the 40th

         14  Anniversary Bobbie Doll has a butterfly tatoo on her

         15  stomach.  And, of course, we sent off a letter to

         16  the Corporation that we don't think that is giving

         17  the right message to our youth.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES:  Council Member

         19  Clarke.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE:  Thank you,

         21  Mr. Chairman.  I am delighted that, at least, the

         22  City is putting in some tax levy dollars, this year,

         23  to identify at risk population, and for me a half of

         24  a loaf is better than no loaf at all.  What do you

         25  think we should be doing, one, Statewide, because
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          2  the State Health Department have some role to play,

          3  as the City Health Department have some role to

          4  play, if what my friend from CDC said when we had

          5  dinner, was that the potential of this being the

          6  next wave even worse than AIDS was, and that there

          7  seems to be a quietness about how we go about

          8  attacking this and creating an environment where the

          9  health community can know more and do more about it,

         10  what do you think we should be doing, you know, not

         11  only with this public awareness for at risk

         12  population, but what should we be doing in terms of

         13  surveillance and things of treatment, what do you

         14  see as a real scenario for us?

         15                 MR. VERHEYEN:  The CDC already

         16  requires the reporting of hepatitis.  The reality is

         17  that almost no doctors report hepatitis, so that is

         18  primarily the reason we do not have harden fact and

         19  statistics on the incidents of hepatitis.  Whenever

         20  you hear statistics for hepatitis it is always in a

         21  very large range of numbers, because we don't know.

         22  Recently the CDC felt that perhaps we're not dealing

         23  with 3.9 million Americans with Hepatitis C, but 2.9

         24  million, but the NIH have recently come out that

         25  there could be as many as 6 million because in a
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          2  study of veterans they have found an over incidence

          3  of over 800,000 veterans with Hepatitis C.  So there

          4  are no harden fact numbers.

          5                 I would answer you, Congresswoman

          6  (sic) Clarke, in two ways.  First is the issue of

          7  immunization, I think that it is very important for

          8  us to make sure that our school children are

          9  immunized against Hepatitis B, and the current

         10  argument that, well, my child is in the first or

         11  second grade isn't sexually active, why should he or

         12  she be immunized against a sexually transmitted

         13  disease, it is without the realization that other

         14  persons in their class might have it, and it is a

         15  safe and it is an effective. Younger children in day

         16  care and day care workers should be considered

         17  immunized against Hepatitis A.  So that if we start

         18  immunizing the particular risk groups that would

         19  dramatically lower the incidence of these disease.

         20                 The second prong is education, as I

         21  think our video so effectively showed, you have to

         22  educate the general public.  We receive hundreds of

         23  phone calls at our Foundation's offices, the people

         24  calling, and it's very reminiscent of the HIV/AIDS

         25  15 years ago.  I have a friend coming over to dinner
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          2  tonight, he has Hepatitis C, is it safe to let him

          3  in the house?  And we might recall 15 years ago we

          4  were asking the same question, and the way that

          5  we're able to successfully combat regarding HIV was

          6  through education, and I think that this video can

          7  go a long way to educate our school children,

          8  college age kids to educate young people of all

          9  walks of life to understand what the risks are and

         10  for them to take responsibility for their bodies.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE:  Is there

         12  something - -

         13                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES:  Before you go

         14  on, is there something that you know that we don't

         15  know?  I know we have been hearing rumors about Una

         16  Clarke and the Congress, but I just wondered if

         17  maybe you knew something that I didn't know.  No,

         18  just joking, go ahead.

         19                 Council Member Clarke.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE:  That is a big

         21  joke here at City Hall, but I don't joke about

         22  serious things ever.

         23                 The follow- up question was, with

         24  physicians, how do you get them to report, is there

         25  a mechanism or recommendation, you know, in terms of
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          2  how we are really in a united way, not only through

          3  education, but make sure that everyone sees this as

          4  a real potential hazard for all Americans, is there

          5  a way in which you really write that up?

          6                 MR. VERHEYEN: Councilwoman Clarke,

          7  that really is up to the State Department of Health

          8  to drive that issue.  That it is the State

          9  Department of Health to advise doctors whether they

         10  are primary care or specialists, that those

         11  statistics are very important.  If you were to ask

         12  me what the statistics are of the incidence in New

         13  York City, no one can tell you because no one knows.

         14

         15                 The statistics that the CDC obtains

         16  is from four counties in the United States, and they

         17  extrapolate the known incidents of viral hepatitis

         18  from these four counties.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE:  If the

         20  Foundation would have a series of recommendations,

         21  based on all you know now, what would they be and

         22  could you forward them to our Chair, in writing, so

         23  that we can have an opportunity to analyze and to

         24  figure out how we work with the State Health

         25  Department, you know, what kind of resolution we
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          2  need to send to them so that we can really put

          3  things in place, at least, for the State of New York

          4  to give statistics in a more coordinated way so that

          5  we can have a real count as to what is happening?

          6                 MR VERHEYEN:  We would be most

          7  pleased in preparing that document, but in great

          8  summary our recommendations are immunization and

          9  education.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE:  Okay, thank

         11  you very much.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES:  Before I call

         13  upon Council Member Espada, let me make sure,

         14  because, again, in the short time you have been

         15  here, you have really awaken me, and since I do see

         16  my colleague, who I work with in the Administration,

         17  Matt, let me, perhaps, since he is listening, Matt,

         18  were you here when I read about the appropriation of

         19  funds that are in the - -  okay.  And because there

         20  is in this budget process, which will take place

         21  between now and June 30th, which we should pass our

         22  budget on or about June 5th, I understand that you

         23  have sent to my Counsel and you will be sending to

         24  me, also, this video, perhaps we can get Matt, I

         25  will get that video to you.  What I would like to
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          2  see happen, perhaps, so that when we call

          3  Commissioner Neal Cohen before this Committee to

          4  address what the City is doing with respect to this

          5  issue, that perhaps this video can be given to him

          6  and probably we can connect so that within this

          7  appropriation of funds on the educational part, if

          8  there is no other video that is available, maybe we

          9  would want to use this as we move forward.

         10                 MR. VERHEYEN:  I would be happy to

         11  get you copies of the video right away.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES:  Good, good.

         13  Council Member Espada.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER ESPADA:  Thank you.  I

         15  really don't have so much of as a question, but more

         16  of a comment because we spoke about the previous

         17  hearings and how we have come about to this point,

         18  but I just wanted to say for the record that it was

         19  at the point in which the Daily News came out with

         20  an article on asthma that we were having a hearing

         21  here about a year ago, that I than spoke to the

         22  Department of Health and I said, I think it is

         23  ridiculous that we receive information through the

         24  media, and that we as health providers or people

         25  that are concerned about the health of the people of
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          2  the City of New York are not aware of what is going

          3  on with our children and with epidemics that are

          4  existing. And I said that we should be hearing about

          5  diseases like Hepatitis C and Hepatitis B and so

          6  forth and so on now as opposed to waiting until it

          7  is something too severe for us to be able to treat.

          8                 This is something that I, myself,

          9  have been very involved in for the last four or five

         10  years, there has never been any information, and I'm

         11  glad to hear that you are giving information and

         12  producing information in Spanish, because there has

         13  never been any information in Spanish. In my

         14  district we work with a group called Lola, who

         15  specifically works on getting information to Latinos

         16  and Latinas because there is no information out

         17  there in Spanish, and I just think it is really

         18  sickening that now we are talking about doing a

         19  feasibility study of $117,000 to see whether or not

         20  we could do something for next year, and meanwhile

         21  thousands of people will be dying. I think it is

         22  rather irresponsible for the Department of Health to

         23  say that they are not yet prepared to testify on

         24  this when this may be an issue in the City Council

         25  for the last year or for the last couple of months
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          2  or the last week, but it is an issue in the health

          3  care community for years.

          4                 And I remember reading a report just

          5  two years ago talking about this being a humungus

          6  epidemic and that people out there are walking

          7  around with Hepatitis C and didn't even know it and

          8  they were going to die as a result of it, and I

          9  think it is really ridiculous that the Department of

         10  Health, an agency that is supposed to be responsible

         11  for the health of this City is relying upon Council

         12  members to implement legislation to have hearings

         13  based on articles that we read so forth and so on,

         14  it is their responsibility to be on top of these

         15  issues from the very beginning.

         16                 Thank you.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Let me just say,

         18  and, again, you may be correct, Council Member, the

         19  fact is that we are starting today to make sure that

         20  whatever we don't have we will get and I think this

         21  partnership is something that we need to work

         22  together on, and I personally again want to thank

         23  you, because we need, and I assure you that this

         24  foundation will be an integral part of our

         25  Committee.
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          2                 Having said that let me say, and,

          3  again, Matt, let me just say that although I have

          4  not discussed it with my membership, I am sure if I

          5  take a poll right now, I have two, four, six, seven

          6  of us, let me just serve notice that for April --

          7  for May, we are giving enough time to the agency to

          8  prepare itself and the topic will be exactly what

          9  the Council member has raised, and that is, one, is

         10  there an epidemic? Two, what are the numbers? Three,

         11  what are we doing? And if this appropriation of

         12  funds, based upon whatever numbers we have, is it

         13  enough to deal with the issue that Council Member

         14  Espada was referring to? And I must say for my

         15  colleagues, particularly those of you who have been

         16  in the vineyards and this issue perhaps could be you

         17  are better versed than I am, I urge you to share

         18  with us any information you may have that we don't

         19  have, and this way we can check to see whether the

         20  agency, when it comes before us, and what they

         21  report, and I will reach out to the foundation so

         22  that between now and when the Commissioner comes,

         23  that we share that kind of imation and maybe we

         24  could work -- I guess my goal is to deal with the

         25  issue and not just simply dwell with the past.
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          2                 Having said that, Council Member

          3  Harrison.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER HARRISON: Yes, thank

          5  you.

          6                 I have a nephew who has Hepatitis C.

          7  He is a hemophilac and may have contracted it, most

          8  logically from what the information I have is,

          9  through a blood factor injection.

         10                 Is there any cure? Is there any

         11  innoculation? Is there any kind of hope that this

         12  will not be a terminal condition for the young man?

         13                 MR. VERHEYEN: There is no cure for

         14  Hepatitis C at this time.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER HARRISON: No? You said

         16  no.

         17                 MR. VERHEYEN: There is no cure. There

         18  is no vaccine.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER HARRISON: Okay.

         20                 MR. VERHEYEN: Because this virus

         21  mutates on itself, the medical community believes

         22  that it will be quite difficult to come up with a

         23  usable vaccine, and it is at least five to ten years

         24  in the future.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER HARRISON: Now, is this
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          2  a death sentence?

          3                 MR. VERHEYEN: Well, the good news is

          4  that it is a very slow-acting disease and it may

          5  take ten, 20, 30, 40 years for it to appear.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER HARRISON: Well, if it

          7  has once appeared?

          8                 MR. VERHEYEN: Well, again, Ms.

          9  Harrison, it is very difficult because it is such

         10  individual, in an individual disease. Eighty-five

         11  percent of people who have Hepatitis C will never

         12  show a symptom, and they will live a normal

         13  lifespan. Meaning they will die of something else.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER HARRISON: How come the

         15  doctors don't report the condition when they

         16  discover it in a patient? Is it because they are not

         17  educated themselves?

         18                 MR. VERHEYEN: We believe it is

         19  ignorance of the law.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER HARRISON: Is there not

         21  some obligation on the part of the AMA to inform its

         22  doctors?

         23                 How do you reach the doctors, then,

         24  if they are not educated?

         25                 How do you as an organization on the
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          2  subject matter reach out to inform the existing

          3  doctors and those who are going through the training

          4  schools of the need for being on the alert for the

          5  infection?

          6                 MR. VEHEYEN: We believe it is both

          7  the role of the CDC in Atlanta and also the Stated

          8  Department of Health to do that, we are not involved

          9  in that aspect.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER HARRISON: Okay. Do you

         11  recommend that this Committee consider communicating

         12  with the State Department of Health on the matter?

         13  Is it necessary for us to advise the State

         14  Department of Health of the need?

         15                 MR. VERHEYEN: Certainly the question

         16  should be asked as to how an adequate statistical

         17  base can be obtained.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES:  Let me just say,

         19  let me just be clear, because we both actually, your

         20  colleague next to you and I served, and let me tell

         21  you something, I have never been impressed with the

         22  State Department of Health.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER HARRISON: Okay.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES:  But let me just

         25  say, what I think I'm going to do, and you're
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          2  absolutely right, is that we, locally, will

          3  ascertain as much of the facts that we need to, and

          4  if we see that we need to be addressing, and if it's

          5  an area of a city, then I must say that in the State

          6  of New York, particular in those four other big

          7  cities that we are well aware of, I'm sure that if

          8  New York City falls in it, so will the other four

          9  big cities, and for that matter, there are parts

         10  perhaps in the State's rural areas, where perhaps

         11  education and health services are not as accessible

         12  as like in the city.  Then and only then will I turn

         13  to the State to say, oh, by the way, this is what we

         14  have in New York City, you are the Chief Health

         15  Officer that sets the tone on the State of New York,

         16  what are you doing?

         17                 But I must tell you in fairness that

         18  the six years I was in the Assembly, I was not

         19  impressed with the Commissioner of Health then, nor

         20  am I impressed with the Commissioner now, because

         21  this issue should be spearheaded by the State of New

         22  York because we're the creatures of the State.  But

         23  I will follow your recommendations after we allow

         24  Commissioner Neal Cohen to come before us and set

         25  the tone about what we and the City of New York,
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          2  where in the City of New York, if it is, what are we

          3  doing, how are we doing it, and then the question

          4  is, are we appropriating enough resources to deal

          5  with this issue.  Okay.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER HARRISON:  And can I

          7  just ask another question, we can inoculate against

          8  A and B?

          9                 MR. VERHEYEN:  That is correct, yes,

         10  Ma'am.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER HARRISON:  How is it

         12  then that you can do that for A and B, and not for

         13  C?

         14                 MR. VERHEYEN:  They're just very

         15  different diseases.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER HARRISON:  They are

         17  different.

         18                 MR. VERHEYEN:  The word hepatitis

         19  means disease of the liver, but really the

         20  similarity stops there.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER HARRISON:  I see.

         22                 MR. VERHEYEN:  So each are very

         23  separate animals.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER HARRISON:  Okay.

         25                 MR. VERHEYEN:  Councilman Robles, I
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          2  will mention to you that there are a number of

          3  states that are actively initiating education

          4  programs, Texas and Florida being among them.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES:  Sure, again, my

          6  point is that I need, as the Chairman of this

          7  Committee, my obligation is to the people of the

          8  City of New York, number one.

          9                 MR. VERHEYEN:  Absolutely.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES:  If I believe and

         11  I feel comfortable with my colleagues, since Council

         12  Member Espada mentioned that before he came here as

         13  an elected official, that this was an area that he

         14  has had to deal with constantly, then I need to make

         15  sure that we, in the City of New York, are

         16  addressing this issue and we are addressing it

         17  properly.

         18                 MR. VERHEYEN:  Yes, Sir.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES:  Not only in

         20  terms of education and typically the rhetoric, but

         21  also whether we are providing the means to after it

         22  is all said and done, one, are people being

         23  immunized for the purpose of Hepatitis A and B?  If

         24  they're not, why not?  If it is available, it's like

         25  polio, why are we not doing it?  For C, we
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          2  understand, because I think you said that we need to

          3  focus under federal government, and I must say, and

          4  I instruct the Counsel, maybe we should put a

          5  resolution calling upon our delegation in Congress

          6  to make this a priority, like similarly the

          7  Congressional Black Caucus led the way in

          8  appropriating new funds for HIV/AIDS because it is

          9  known that in the communities of color the numbers

         10  are in such, great numbers that they singularly

         11  appropriated funds which will be used across New

         12  York City, but I think that we should try to get our

         13  delegation to do exactly what I believe was said

         14  here, and that is, to do more research, so that

         15  through research in expending those funds we can

         16  come up with a vaccine that may address Hepatitis C.

         17    And I think that is what I heard, if I am correct.

         18                 Is that it, Council member.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER HARRISON:  Yes, thank

         20  you.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES:   Council Member

         22  Rivera, do you want to use your mic?

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER RIVERA:  One quick

         24  question, if I may?  Prior to this hearing has there

         25  been any communication between you, your
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          2  organization and the Administration of the City of

          3  New York?  If there has been, what has been the

          4  response?

          5                 MR. VERHEYEN:  I would tell you that

          6  I was here a year ago in this Council Chambers

          7  speaking and receiving a resolution from this

          8  Council Chamber, speaking directly to the Council,

          9  excuse me, to the Administration, I do not believe

         10  not.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER RIVERA:  So a year has

         12  gone by?

         13                 MR. VERHEYEN:  Yes, we have sent

         14  letter, we have tried to communicate, as I said, the

         15  Board of Education has seen our video, they did vote

         16  to incorporate that in their curriculum for this

         17  year, there are a lot of baby steps going on.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER RIVERA:  Within the

         19  last year?

         20                 MR. VERHEYEN:  Yes.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER RIVERA:  Am I led to

         22  believe that that has been as a result of whatever

         23  communication has taken placed between you and the

         24  Administration from across?

         25                 MR. VERHEYEN:  We would like to think
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          2  so.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER RIVERA:  Okay.

          4  Listening very closely to what our colleague,

          5  Espada, reminded us of, and watching what is

          6  happening here today, I go back six years, Mr.

          7  Chairman, you recall this Committee began then

          8  towards the end of the Administration, David Dinkins

          9  Administration, began to deal with what community-

         10  base organizations, if I recall correctly, began to

         11  make us aware, and besides the community- based

         12  organizations, there was also an article, a small

         13  article in the New York Times put together then by

         14  Dr. Osborne, who was the head of the Emergency

         15  Services in Lincoln Hospital, when he then brought

         16  to our attention, along with the CBOs, that there

         17  was these high increase in numbers of asthma attack,

         18  in this case in the Bronx, in the Lincoln Hospital

         19  area.

         20                 And I recall at that time that the

         21  Committee, this Committee, held more than one

         22  hearing, and I believe that we had suggested to the

         23  then Commissioner, I believe it was the Department

         24  of Health Commissioner, Ms. Hamburg, was that the

         25  name, to look into this.  She looked, if I recall,
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          2  they were not like aware of what was happening

          3  around the City in terms of the high increase of

          4  asthma cases coming before Lincoln Hospital, and it

          5  was not too soon after that we began, as a result of

          6  the hearings, the follow up here is to notice that

          7  there were increases in reported cases throughout

          8  the City.

          9                 When I quickly glanced through your,

         10  what I believe are your remarks, and I see that in

         11  the United States we have reported cases of over

         12  five million people in the City, throughout this

         13  nation, and I believe that someone attempted, I

         14  don't know if it was the Chairperson or one of our

         15  colleagues to ask you, out of the five million,

         16  considering that the City of New York, we have, I

         17  don't know, maybe we have about five million

         18  tourists coming into this City throughout the year

         19  to visit us, and we're talking about a virus that

         20  can easily sort of be transferred from one person to

         21  another.  How many actual cases, if you have that

         22  information, have been reported in the City of New

         23  York, and how are we really dealing with that, how

         24  do you see that the City of New York has attempted?

         25  Because we can deal with it, and we shall deal with
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          2  the State, but I agree with my colleague, I'm not

          3  going to wait, I don't think we should wait for the

          4  State to begin to act.  You know, this is a City of

          5  million of people, and like in the past and we

          6  should be doing, you know, upon, based upon your

          7  information and the concern is present by others

          8  along with you, and we should be doing to try to

          9  look much closer, and even when we attempted in the

         10  past to have the Department of Health declare asthma

         11  an emergency situation in the City of New York, they

         12  were hesitant, they were reluctant to do that.  And

         13  it was not until this back and forth debates and

         14  arguments that it led to the Daily News, yes, and

         15  reporting about these asthma attacks, and it was not

         16  then that the Administration, in this case the

         17  present Administration, began to really address the

         18  situation.

         19                 I don't want to wait that long, if

         20  there is a crisis, let us know there is a crisis

         21  right now.

         22                 MR. VERHEYEN:  The problem,

         23  Councilman, is that we don't know because the

         24  doctors are not reporting, we have no structure.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER RIVERA:  The
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          2  Department of Health doesn't know, once again?

          3                 MR. VERHEYEN:  The best that we can

          4  hope is that they have some idea of a guess.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES:  Let me, if I

          6  may, because, again, and let me again reinvite you.

          7  Let me be clear, May the 4th is when we will have

          8  Commissioner Neal Cohen, who is the Commissioner of

          9  Health to come before this Committee so that those

         10  questions that you are asking in fairness, be asked

         11  of him directly.

         12                 One of the things that I am going to

         13  be asking him and I need to get the lawyers, you

         14  know, those of us who are not lawyers, we need some

         15  advice.  What troubles me without knowing all the

         16  facts is when I hear a foundation who deals with

         17  this issue every single day say to us that doctors

         18  are not reporting, well, maybe we need to ask the

         19  question to the Commissioner, why not? What can we

         20  do, like we do for other things, mandate them to

         21  reporting, that is where, Council Member Harrison,

         22  I'm not too quick to turn to the State because maybe

         23  we need the State Legislature to pass legislation

         24  that we will support.  So at this point, just based

         25  upon generally what I'm hearing, Council Member
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          2  Rivera's questions are direct and to the point, but

          3  I think we should be asking that of Commissioner

          4  Neal Cohen, who, by the way, is the Chief Health

          5  Officer of the City who is supposed to monitor, who

          6  is supposed to set the tone, who is supposed to lead

          7  the way, and in fairness, because they are not here,

          8  whether we agree with a dollar amount or not, the

          9  fact is, as you said Council Member Rivera in this

         10  Preliminary Budget there is an appropriation of

         11  funds, so apparently they recognizing.  I hope it is

         12  not because of the newspaper articles, but I hope

         13  that that is based upon what you questioned of this

         14  witness is.

         15                 But on May the 4th, your mic is off.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER RIVERA:  Listen, I

         17  know you will be listening very closely to what he

         18  has said or added, to hear, to me it sounds more

         19  than just sharing a piece of information, it's like

         20  an accusation that doctors in the City of New York,

         21  who are licensed by the Health Department, I

         22  believe, and other departments of this City, are not

         23  reporting these cases, that comes closure.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES:  Well, that is

         25  why I'm saying, I think the question has to be asked
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          2  of Commissioner Neal Cohen. Then the next question

          3  will be if they're not, how do we get them, can the

          4  Board of Health of the City of New York, which they

          5  do constantly through regulations, can that be made

          6  mandated, or do we need State Legislation, that is

          7  where I'm calling upon not only, and say again, let

          8  me also say that I was just made aware and it's just

          9  appropriate that Commissioner Neal Cohen, I'm

         10  requesting and I will be inviting that he appears

         11  before this Committee on May the 4th, which happens

         12  to be, May happens to be National Hepatitis Month.

         13  So let me say that besides Commissioner Cohen

         14  coming, this Committee, we will be moving ahead at

         15  the next stated Council meeting sometime in May to

         16  recognize again and bring back again as we did, as

         17  you recognized, as you said, where we did recognize

         18  the month and you came and you received, I believe,

         19  was a proclamation.

         20                 Let me also say to my colleagues,

         21  respectively, those who have been here like I have

         22  been for 14 years, those who have worked with me as

         23  members of this Committee, and those who are new to

         24  this Committee who are now beginning to work with me

         25  as the Chairman of the Committee.  I want to repeat
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          2  what I have said from day one, I gave up my position

          3  as Chairman of the Youth Service Committee because

          4  after 14 years on this Committee I was not thrilled

          5  with the direction that this Committee was moving,

          6  i.e., Health, and I have taken over, I have learned

          7  from the past, and I move onto the future, and I ask

          8  all of you to work with me, so that we can address

          9  these issues.  There was a reason why I became the

         10  Chairman of this Committee and I intend to go out

         11  with a bang, at least, to say that after whatever

         12  the years is that this Committee has done something

         13  to protect the health of the people of New York

         14  City.

         15                 So having said that, any other

         16  questions from Council members because we have

         17  another person who is also on a time schedule?  If

         18  not, I repeat, I will personally reach out to you

         19  again for May the 4th.  What we will do if you are

         20  available, is to allow the Commissioner to first

         21  testify, it may be based upon what you hear, then I

         22  will call you back and maybe there are areas that we

         23  need to look at, and I can only say is that we, one,

         24  personally thank you, because you showed up this

         25  morning on a short notice, and I really look forward
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          2  in working with you as my tenure on this Committee

          3  as Chair.

          4                 Having said that, unless you have any

          5  last words, I want to personally thank you for

          6  coming this morning.

          7                 MR. VERHEYEN:  Thank you very much.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES:  Thank you very

          9  much.  Yes.

         10                 MR. ORENGO:  Dr. Robert Brown.

         11                 DR. BROWN:  Thank you.  I'm one of

         12  those doctors that you're talking about.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES:  Let me again,- -

         14                 DR. BROWN:  Oh, I have to identify

         15  myself.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: - -  would you

         17  introduce yourself, for the record, and then go back

         18  to you being one of those doctors.

         19                 DR. BROWN:  I'm sorry.  I'm Dr.

         20  Robert S. Brown.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES:  I think you have

         22  got to push your button.  Go ahead.

         23                 DR. BROWN:  Now it's on.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES:  Good, thank you.

         25                 DR. BROWN:  I'm Dr. Robert S. Brown,
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          2  Jr.  I'm the Medical Director for the Center of

          3  Liver Disease and Transplantation at Columbia

          4  University College of Physicians and Surgeons in the

          5  New York Presbyterian Hospital, and I'm one of the

          6  doctors of whom you mentioned.

          7                 I had a list of things that I was

          8  going to talk about, but I'm actually going to

          9  switch the orders and address this issue of

         10  reporting first, since it seems to be an important

         11  one. There are two problems with reporting of

         12  chronic viral hepatitis. The first is that Hepatitis

         13  C isn't a reportable condition. Hepatitis B is a

         14  reportable condition.  The reporting - -

         15                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES:  Sir, if I may,

         16  as I understand it, before I be back, that is the

         17  point.  There are diseases that become reportable

         18  either one of two ways, one, by the Board of Health

         19  in the City of New York, or by the State Legislature

         20  that mandates that it becomes a reportable disease;

         21  is that correct?

         22                 DR. BROWN:  Correct.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES:  Okay, thank you.

         24                 DR. BROWN:  So the first step would

         25  be to make Hepatitis C a reportable disease.
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          2                 Reporting of reportable diseases is

          3  still suboptimal, we don't do a great job, and if

          4  you look, one, that the list doesn't really reflect

          5  what the diseases that affect us. Syphilis is a

          6  reportable disease, it's uncommon at this point.  TB

          7  is a reportable disease, it's on the rise and it is

          8  pretty well reported.  Hepatitis B is on the rise

          9  and reporting is still poor, and Hepatitis C, which

         10  is probably and hopefully a reportable disease, is

         11  not reportable at the current time.

         12                 The second major problem with

         13  reporting is that it requires that you find somebody

         14  who has the disease, and so if you look at the

         15  population and you have heard figures of the number

         16  of patients with Hepatitis B and C, the vast

         17  majority will spend most of their life undiagnosed.

         18  And if you want to report a disease, it has to meet

         19  one of two conditions.  It has become pretty obvious

         20  pretty easily, or you have to screen at risk

         21  populations for the disease, otherwise you won't

         22  find it and you won't report it.  So saying, well,

         23  Hepatitis C will be a reportable disease, might give

         24  you a sense of the tip of the iceberg, but will

         25  never get below the surface.
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          2                 If we want to address this epidemic

          3  as it is called, we're going to have to approach

          4  issues regarding screening of at risk individuals

          5  and try to increase the discovery, and then increase

          6  the likelihood that the physicians, once they

          7  discover it, will report it.  But the major block at

          8  the current time is not the reporting, but the

          9  discovery, and I would say, and I will address in a

         10  moment why I think that there are those, that lack

         11  of discovery of the disease.

         12                 But the second issue that I wanted to

         13  address that came out from sort of the excellent

         14  presentation of my predecessor and I think we have

         15  to laud the efforts of the Hepatitis Foundation and

         16  the America Liver Foundation for promoting awareness

         17  of this disease when everybody else was ignoring it.

         18    Part of the reason that we have ignored it so far,

         19  is that if you use the term epidemic of viral

         20  hepatitis, it becomes a misnomer.  And if you look

         21  at data from the CDC, the incidence, the number of

         22  new cases of Hepatitis B and C, new infections is

         23  decreasing.  Probably due to efforts that were made

         24  to stem HIV transmission, and as there has been a

         25  fall in new cases of HIV, there has been a fall in
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          2  new cases of hepatitis infection.  But the

          3  difference between hepatitis and HIV is that the

          4  hepatitis here is just an infection, the liver

          5  disease is delayed by decades.  So that the epidemic

          6  of new infections that occurred in the sixties,

          7  seventies, early eighties, is now becoming an

          8  epidemic of liver disease that is becoming apparent

          9  in the 90s, 2000, 2010.  So though we're seeing a

         10  decline in viral infections, we're seeing a rise in

         11  liver disease due to those viral infections.  And

         12  we're at risk of having these diseases become what

         13  we call endemic or chronically persistent in our

         14  population, the way Hepatitis B and Hepatitis C are

         15  in many parts of the world.

         16                 Hepatitis B is a major cause of liver

         17  disease worldwide and in the countries where it is

         18  most prevalent, the major mode of transmission is

         19  from mother to child.  And if these diseases become

         20  set in our country like that, that may become a

         21  major mode of transmission in childhood.  And then

         22  these children will take this disease through the

         23  time where they will be at risk of passing

         24  bloodborne diseases to others, and in the absence of

         25  vaccination will be a problem.  Hepatitis B, we
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          2  should be able to address, except in immigrants,

          3  with vaccination.

          4                 There has been a reluctance to

          5  vaccinate, in France it is a major controversy, and

          6  I think it is one thing that we have the get over.

          7  Hepatitis B vaccination, particularly in New York

          8  City where there are a lot of immigrants is going to

          9  be a major problem, and any estimate of hepatitis as

         10  a disease in a country, you would have the magnify

         11  in New York.  It is a disease that

         12  disproportionately affects people of color,

         13  disproportionately affects lower socioeconomic

         14  strata, and so we are going to have a higher

         15  prevalence of this problem in New York.  And it is

         16  disease that doesn't attract our attention because

         17  unlike five cases of Bola, which will make the front

         18  page of the Times, this is a latent disease, and

         19  liver disease we must accept is stigmatized in our

         20  society.

         21                 It's something that we associate with

         22  alcoholism, with living in the Bowery someplace, and

         23  once you develop liver disease you are stigmatized

         24  and we tend to try to put it under the rug.  And

         25  there has been no empowered group of patients or
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          2  persons who are affected by this disease who have

          3  demanded what is rightfully theirs, which is equal

          4  attention to this relative to its importance.  And

          5  similarly with breast cancer and other diseases that

          6  have affected disenfranchised groups, liver disease

          7  has taken a back seat to other diseases that affect

          8  fewer individuals on average.

          9                 The next thing that I wanted to

         10  approach was the issues of screening, why people

         11  haven't screened, why have physicians not screened,

         12  why don't they think it is important? Well, one was

         13  a belief that this was going to be an indolent

         14  disease that came out of data from the CDC in blood

         15  transfusion recipients who had a limited life span

         16  because most of them got those blood transfusion

         17  during coronary artery surgery, older individuals,

         18  and the second was, we had no good treatments.  So

         19  if you had nothing to offer and you had a belief

         20  that it was indolent, why look?  Well, both of those

         21  things have become untrue in the nineties.

         22                 One is, we have recognized that this

         23  is not an indolent disease, particularly in patients

         24  who get it at a young age.

         25                 Two is, we have a lot of things we
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          2  can do, and the first is the simplest, which is

          3  advise people not to drink. Alcohol and hepatitis

          4  have synergistic effects on promoting liver disease.

          5    Two is, to protect other people from getting the

          6  infection, and that is an important issue.  And the

          7  third is that there is a lot of research on

          8  developing new treatments, and though we cannot say

          9  that we have cured Hepatitis B or C once it is in

         10  place, we do have very good treatments that, at

         11  least, create a sustained remission and probably

         12  cure some people, and, at least, make benefits that

         13  will probably be manifest through a lower rate of

         14  development of cirrhosis, a lower development of

         15  liver cancer, which Hepatitis B and C are the

         16  leading cause of primary liver cancer, and which is

         17  rising in incidence in the United States, and a

         18  decreased need for liver transplantation.

         19                 So these treatments require:  One,

         20  screening, which is expensive.  Two, treatments that

         21  are expensive.  We can hope to defer later costs in

         22  transplantation and in deaths from liver disease,

         23  which is not a cheap death.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES:  Let me, before I

         25  call Council Member Clarke and Harrison, let me,

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            65

          1  COMMITTEE ON HEALTH

          2  because I'm sorry that that was pulled out, but let

          3  me just, you just said something that, you said that

          4  the screening is expensive.  If that is true,

          5  because it is expensive, but at the end of the

          6  tunnel, would it be more costly to us as a society

          7  because we were worried more about how much the cost

          8  will be, would be spending more money later on than

          9  if we invest, even though you say that the screening

         10  is expensive, today?

         11                 DR. BROWN:  I believe so, you know,

         12  in the absence of good epidemiologic data, it is

         13  hard to put a dollar figure on what these costs are,

         14  but, you know, you have liver disease more tally

         15  which is rising, Hepatitis C being the major cause

         16  for transplantation in the United States, which as

         17  you have seen on the front page of the paper, the

         18  demand is greatly exceeding supply and is very

         19  expensive, and the cost of long- term disease for

         20  most diseases, early screening, though, you pay an

         21  up front cost, if you could prevent future morbidity

         22  and mortality is cost- effective.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES:  Let me one more

         24  question, and, again, you were in the audience where

         25  I intend to bring in Commissioner Neal Cohen, who is
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          2  really the Commissioner of Health who can really

          3  answer our questions with respect to what the agency

          4  and as the Chief Health Officer, if the numbers that

          5  you have referred to and I believe my colleague,

          6  Council Member Clarke told me while I was out that

          7  it may have been you, that someone indicated that

          8  you will find the numbers greater in communities of

          9  color and then there is list of reasons why.  And if

         10  that is true, that is common, especially as we deal

         11  with a lot of things.

         12                 One of the things that came out this

         13  morning, which is interesting to me, and I expected

         14  the common drug addiction, sexual transmission and

         15  what have you, two areas which are very interesting,

         16  which I'm going to resurrect my bill because,

         17  although my reason for introducing it was the fact

         18  that I saw so many young teenagers, young meaning

         19  10, 11, 12, 13, 14, never mind the 19, 21, what have

         20  you, and I was looking all these, and on the tongue,

         21  on the bellies, it started on the ears and now it's

         22  all over the place, and recently we regulated the

         23  tatoo industry, and if you notice on the video it

         24  was pointed out that tattooing, because of the,

         25  never mind the needles, but now the inkwells, what
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          2  have you.

          3                 So having said that,it said that in

          4  Hepatitis A and B there is immunization for those

          5  two areas, correct?

          6                 DR. BROWN:  Correct.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES:  And you are a

          8  doctor practicing in New York City?

          9                 DR. BROWN:  Yes, at Columbia.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES:  Okay.  Have you

         11  received from the Department of Health any

         12  memorandums or directives that said that this

         13  vaccine is available and how and when it should be

         14  used?

         15                 DR. BROWN:  I can't say definitively

         16  no, because since I'm a liver specialists, I know

         17  these things and I might have ignored it.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES:  Okay.

         19                 DR. BROWN:  But I would say that I

         20  tend to pay attention to informational material

         21  regarding hepatitis, since it is what I do for a

         22  living, and I said if it came by, it was not

         23  obvious.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES:  Again, in

         25  fairness, because Commissioner Cohen is not here,
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          2  but I just want to prepare myself because I'm asking

          3  my colleague from the Mayor's Office to prepare the

          4  Commissioner on the kind of questions that I'm going

          5  to be asking him when he comes, so that you do say,

          6  for the most part, doctors, in general, especially

          7  in New York City, there is communication between the

          8  Department of Health and the physicians; is that

          9  fair to say?

         10                 DR. BROWN:  You get letters every

         11  once in a while.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES:  On the issue

         13  that we're referring to now, which is hepatitis,

         14  whether its A, B, or C, and since you are more

         15  directly in that, and, of course, you come from an

         16  institution that is well respected in this City.  My

         17  question is, have you seen coming through your desk

         18  kinds of information awareness from the Department

         19  of Health?

         20                 DR. BROWN:  No, I haven't seen it.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES:  You have not,

         22  okay.

         23                 DR. BROWN:  And I would say, you

         24  know, I came back to New York eight months ago, and

         25  I have been struck that for such an urban city that
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          2  the level of awareness and the level of knowledge

          3  among the people who need to know most, primary care

          4  physicians, pediatricians is less than I would have

          5  hoped.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES:  Okay, in

          7  fairness, you said you just came back, so I'm

          8  assuming you have been here for eight months and

          9  prior to that you were away?

         10                 DR. BROWN:  Yes.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES:  For how long?

         12                 DR. BROWN:  Well I was in San

         13  Francisco for five years, and I was in North

         14  Carolina, Chapel Hill for a few years.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES:  So what you're

         16  saying to me is, again, in fairness to Commissioner

         17  Cohen who is not here, and I guess, I will get him

         18  to address that, you are, I don't want to use the

         19  word stunned, but you were surprised that in the

         20  eight months that you are here, especially in the

         21  institution that you work in, which is getting well

         22  known that you are struck with the fact that there

         23  is a lack of communication between the Department of

         24  Health and physicians like yourself, in areas like

         25  the one that we're referring to this morning?
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          2                 DR. BROWN:  I would say that I'm

          3  struck by the lack of knowledge that has been

          4  received.  It's hard to know how much of that is

          5  deficiencies in the senders versus deficiencies in

          6  the receivers.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES:  Okay.

          8                 DR. BROWN:  So I'm not going to point

          9  fingers, but what I would say - -

         10                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES:  Sure.

         11                 DR. BROWN: - - is that in a City like

         12  New York where you have, you know, a lot of top

         13  flight physicians, they should be at the cutting

         14  edge, and I noticed very little difference here from

         15  North Carolina.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES:  Okay.

         17                 DR. BROWN:  And that would be my

         18  comment.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES:  Good, thank you

         20  very much. Council Member Clarke and then Harrison.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE:  Thank you

         22  very much.  In your testimony when you described,

         23  you said something about Hepatitis B and lack of

         24  awareness, especially because of the large immigrant

         25  communities, can you kind of expound on that and to
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          2  let us know which forms of hepatitis are found in

          3  those communities?

          4                 DR. BROWN:  Well, Hepatitis B, you

          5  know, we think of Hepatitis C, it is clearly the

          6  biggest cause of chronic viral liver disease in the

          7  United States, with somewhere around four to five

          8  million infected individuals, now that is one 1.5

          9  percent of the population.  In New York you can

         10  guess is it going to be twice that, 3 percent, 4

         11  percent, 5 percent, but, you know, the population of

         12  New York is big, that is a lot of people.  Now

         13  worldwide about 300 million people have Hepatitis C

         14  viral infection.

         15                 Now in the United States about one

         16  million people have chronic Hepatitis B, worldwide

         17  about 400, 500 million people have chronic Hepatitis

         18  B.  So on a worldwide level, this is a huge problem.

         19    It's endemic in most of Eastern Asia, China

         20  probably has the largest population of patient

         21  chronic Hepatitis B carriers, Japanese, and large

         22  parts of Africa.  Here it is mostly past sexually

         23  and from parent, mother to child.  So immigrants

         24  from those areas will carry Hepatitis B, it's a very

         25  easy disease to pass sexually, and they will pass
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          2  it.  As opposed to, Hepatitis B causes both an acute

          3  illness, of which adults, 90 percent will get better

          4  on there own and get over it and be immune like you

          5  would from mumps or measles, 10 percent, 5 to 10

          6  percent will carry it chronically.  Children who get

          7  Hepatitis B, 80 to 90 percent will carry it

          8  chronically, similar to all adults with Hepatitis C.

          9                 Hepatitis C very rarely gets

         10  discovered during the acute phase, 85, 90, maybe

         11  some say 100 percent will carry it chronically.

         12                 Hepatitis A causes epidemics of acute

         13  disease, you can get very sick, very rarely could

         14  you die from it or require a transplant, but you

         15  will get better.  So that is the disease we see from

         16  the frozen strawberries past around most commonly in

         17  day care centers, because it's not passed through

         18  blood, but through fecal/oral contamination.  So

         19  places where, you know, children who play in there

         20  diapers and old age facilities, and then epidemics

         21  associated with food and poor sanitation  So we

         22  won't see Hepatitis A, we will see people who had

         23  Hepatitis A come from other countries, maybe

         24  tourists will visit with Hepatitis A, but it will

         25  not cause a chronic disease burden.
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          2                 We will see a chronic disease burden

          3  from Hepatitis B coming in from other countries, as

          4  well as Hepatitis C.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE:  Okay, the

          6  research scientist with whom I had dinner that was

          7  really kind of getting me to understand what this

          8  disease really means, kind of said to me out of the,

          9  as an aside, I don't think that there will be as

         10  much alarm about hepatitis, although its potential

         11  is as deadly as AIDS, mainly because I think it is

         12  in poor Black and Latino communities that are less

         13  powerless that have less voice, but don't you think

         14  that it is any less dangerous in terms of the way

         15  the virus works. Is he bringing an alarm that is not

         16  to be taken, or should we be taking this seriously?

         17                 DR. BROWN:  I agree with him

         18  wholeheartedly.  I think that if this was, you know,

         19  affecting the Corporate Board Rooms of America, we

         20  would be paying it much more heed.  I agree with him

         21  on the seriousness, and I agree with him on, to a

         22  certain extent on why we haven't paid attention, and

         23  also we don't pay attention because it is insidious.

         24    You know, Americans have tend to follow  what we

         25  call the rule of rescue, we're much more drawn to
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          2  the critically ill individual than we are to the

          3  chronically ill individual, and now that HIV have

          4  gone from killing people in the matter of, you know,

          5  when I was in medical school at NYU, people who came

          6  in with a diagnosis of AIDS, they were dead within

          7  six months, maybe a year.  Now as it becomes a more

          8  indolent, treatable disease that takes place over a

          9  decade, we're seeing a fall in the interest of young

         10  people in protecting themselves from this disease,

         11  it falls off the radar screen.  We tend to like to

         12  focus on things that are a little more dramatic.

         13  Though this disease, though it is not dramatic, it

         14  is just as important.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE:  Thank you

         16  very much. Finally, what do you recommend?  There

         17  are numbers of us who sit on this Committee who are

         18  minorities and whose communities have the potential

         19  for the deadliness of it, so what kind of drums

         20  should we be beating?

         21                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES:  She is leading

         22  to the budget, meaning do you believe that we should

         23  be appropriating funds in those communities to

         24  address the issues, I think, that is your question,

         25  isn't it?
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE:  That is a

          3  question.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES:  Thank you, I

          5  already know how she operates.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE:  That is a

          7  question kind of shrouded in something else.

          8                 DR. BROWN:  I do.  I think that, you

          9  know, people who, there are recommendations from the

         10  CDC on who should be screened, the at risk

         11  individuals.  And I can tell you that probably if I

         12  ventured into communities at risk, I would not be

         13  well received and the message would fall on deafer

         14  ears.  I think from people within, those messages

         15  always go better when they're spoken from within,

         16  and if people who are at risk are struck that

         17  concerned individuals who they identify with think

         18  that this is a problem that they should address,

         19  then perhaps, and then we have facilities that are

         20  available that can make it easy and non judgmental,

         21  and screen, and treat people who are at risk and

         22  have the disease.  I think it would make a huge

         23  impact, and I think we have had the same problem

         24  with organ donation in minority populations, and I

         25  think, you know, we should look to leaders, and I
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          2  don't know, both civic leaders, maybe sports

          3  figures, people who will gather attention to the

          4  fact that if this isn't done in the areas where the

          5  risk is highest, they will bear the burden,

          6  disproportionately.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE:  Thank you

          8  very much.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES:  So I want to

         10  make sure I understand the question and the answer,

         11  and as I as the Chair and my colleagues, as we

         12  address the issue of hepatitis, we are not really

         13  talking about Hepatitis C, we're talking about

         14  hepatitis, whether it is A, B, and C, that we should

         15  be addressing in terms of resources so that we can

         16  do the kind of work, whether it is in A or B, i.e.,

         17  immunization or in the research, which I think was

         18  discussed in terms of, so that we can find similarly

         19  maybe an immunization for the C too.  So as we deal

         20  with the question, you're really talking about

         21  appropriating funds across the board; is that it?

         22                 DR. BROWN:  I agree that education

         23  and vaccination have to be the major efforts in A

         24  and B.  The major efforts in C in screening,

         25  treatment and vaccine development.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES:  Council Member

          3  Harrison.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER HARRISON:  Yes,

          5  actually I'm on the same wavelength with my

          6  question.  I had a very, lovely, dear friend, a man

          7  of color, a constituent who lingered for an

          8  inordinately long time a liver distress, which was

          9  hepatitis, I understand.  The question I have, is,

         10  after he passed, I heard that there was a policy

         11  being followed by doctors in the City of New York

         12  not to treat people of color with transplanted

         13  organs because the bodies of people of color were

         14  more apt to reject the transplant than people who

         15  were not of color.  Now it sounded like a very odd

         16  statement to make, but then we also had a lady come

         17  before the whole body of the Council at a formal

         18  meeting, who, herself, was advocating for people to

         19  make organ transplants and advocate for organ

         20  transplants, and she in effect said the same thing

         21  about the fact that people of color could not accept

         22  transplanted livers as effectively as other people

         23  could, and that was the reason that she was prepared

         24  to die and that is the reason my friend did die.

         25  Now is there any substance to that kind of
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          2  statement, should I believe it?

          3                 DR. BROWN:  There is a strand of

          4  substance and a lot of exaggeration.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER HARRISON:  Okay.

          6                 DR. BROWN:  We will start with the

          7  true.  Yes, it is true that persons of color are

          8  more likely to have rejection of a transplanted

          9  organ, usually not resulting in loss.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER HARRISON:  Not

         11  resulting in what?

         12                 DR. BROWN:  Usually not resulting in

         13  loss of the organ, and that, and there are a lot of

         14  theories on why that is, most of them concentrate on

         15  the fact that a person, because of donation rates

         16  are lower among persons of color, it is

         17  overwhelmingly likely that a person of color will

         18  receive an organ from a white person, and

         19  genetically more disparate individuals will have a

         20  more higher likelihood of having rejection.  And as

         21  we have looked at living- related donation, that

         22  probably plays a major role in that if you take an

         23  organ from a brother and put it into another brother

         24  the rejection rates don't seem to be different

         25  whether you're black or white.
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          2                 Now the untrue is that there is no

          3  policy stated or unstated that transplant programs

          4  that I have been in contact with, and you know,

          5  Columbia Presbyterian has a liver transplant

          6  program, kidney transplant program, heart transplant

          7  program, NYU has a liver transplant program, kidney

          8  transplant program, I don't think they have a kidney

          9  program, Sinai, also.  And, you know, I have good

         10  friends at all of those programs, and none of us

         11  would discriminate on the basis of color.

         12                 That being said, if you look at the

         13  incidence of end stage renal disease, kidney

         14  failure, end- stage liver disease, liver failure,

         15  among persons of color, they are higher than among

         16  white individuals.  Yet, they're proportion in the

         17  transplant list is lower than their proportion in

         18  the population as a whole.  So somehow, though the

         19  diseases are more common in persons of color, they

         20  are less likely to be transplanted.  Now if you look

         21  at the percentage of donors, it's even smaller, so

         22  there are clearly barriers, barriers to access that

         23  prevent persons of color from being referred or

         24  barriers that they don't want to be referred that

         25  they have mistrust of transplantation.  And then
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          2  there are barriers to donation that even if you say,

          3  for example, 30 percent of end stage renal occurs in

          4  blacks, and stage kidney failure, 20 percent of the

          5  patients on the waiting list are black, when it

          6  should be 30 percent, 10 percent, 5 percent of

          7  donors are black, when it should be the proportion

          8  as they exist in the population, 10 percent.

          9                 So we have to work at eliminating the

         10  barriers.  I don't believe the barriers exist at the

         11  transplant center.  I mean Medicaid covers

         12  transplantation, all of the commercial insurers

         13  cover transplantation, virtually, we're in the

         14  business of doing transplants, we don't turn people

         15  away.  But I do think that patients with liver

         16  disease, or kidney disease, or heart disease, who

         17  are of color, who are poor, are less likely to be

         18  identified, and once they're identified, they're

         19  less likely because they're going to be in a less

         20  advanced health center to be referred to a

         21  specialist, to then be referred to a transplant

         22  center, and even if they are, they're going to be

         23  less likely to go, transportation issues, distrust

         24  of the medical population, particularly in the

         25  universities settings, the feeling that they might
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          2  be a guinea pig, all of those things are barriers to

          3  access.  And we should, rather than think about

          4  whether people are being denied transplant, which I

          5  don't think is occurring, we have to work on the

          6  barriers to access that prevent people from

          7  accessing that system.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER HARRISON:  Thank you

          9  so much.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES:  Thank you, let

         11  me just say, again, I think you were in the room, my

         12  intention is to invited Commissioner Neal Cohen to

         13  come before us on May the 4th, if perhaps your

         14  schedule permits, again, I extend the same

         15  invitation to you.  I think that if we really went

         16  ahead with this issue, that I and those of us here,

         17  welcome cross sections of the profession, the

         18  implementors and the community so that we begin to

         19  address it. And I ensure that this Chair and this

         20  Committee intends to put this in the front burner

         21  and begin to address an area that we should have

         22  been addressing and I must say that I appreciate

         23  Council Member Clarke nudging me on this resolution,

         24  and I have learned a great deal today from not only

         25  the testimony, but the video too. So I want to thank
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          2  you.

          3                 DR. BROWN:  Thank you, I will try to

          4  come on the 4th, and then one last issue that I'm

          5  going to leave with is that the CDC and the Federal

          6  Government have started a recommendation of what we

          7  call a look back program, looking at patients who

          8  are transfused, like the patient you mentioned, with

          9  hepatitis infected blood.  And I did get material

         10  from the Greater New York Hospital Association

         11  indicating that people are going to be, physicians

         12  and, I guess, patients are going to be contacted by

         13  the blood bank in the upcoming period of time.

         14                 This is an enormous opportunity to

         15  use this look back program, not only to identify a

         16  small group, probably 10 percent, because that is

         17  the rate of transfusion- related disease of patients

         18  at risk, but to use the opportunity of the look back

         19  program as a spring board to raise the awareness in

         20  this City of the disease.  Because it is true that

         21  the patients affected by transfusion are a much more

         22  even cross section of the population, and may be

         23  more likely to want to push the agenda  And I thank

         24  Representative Clarke for bringing this to the

         25  forefront, and I must complement you on your hat.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES:  Don't you know,

          3  she is the Bella Abuzz of the Council?

          4                 DR. BROWN:  Yes, quite well.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE:   I thank you

          6  for complementing on the hat first of all.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES:  And calling her

          8  a representative.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE:  That is also

         10  fine, but I think that many of these issues as they

         11  come before any of us who are members of this

         12  Committee that we have an obligation to kind of do

         13  our homework and then to nudge our Chair, because

         14  that is his rule as the Chair to bring them, and I

         15  didn't think that this first hearing would be all we

         16  would need to enlighten the community about

         17  hepatitis, but that this becomes an ongoing effort

         18  on the part of all of the partners and physicians

         19  are very important partners in helping with the

         20  awareness, and I thank you for coming.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES:  Thank you again.

         22                 DR. BROWN:  I will be happy to serve,

         23  if you have any further questions, give me a buzz, I

         24  will come on back.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES:  Thank you.  To
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          2  my colleagues let me just say that normally the

          3  Sergeant- At- Arms bring visitors up the gallery,

          4  but if you let me know and I'm presiding I ensure

          5  you that I will give you the same courtesy.  Before

          6  us, the reason why I asked them to sit before us is

          7  because they happen to be the future leaders of the

          8  City of New York that happen to be visiting from my

          9  district, and because they are from my district I

         10  wanted them to be up front, and I hope Crosswalk

         11  shows them, so that when they play around with the

         12  cable and you put Channel 74 in Brooklyn and they

         13  play these hearings that maybe you will see

         14  yourselves on Crosswalk and television and you will

         15  remember that this is the Chamber, the place that we

         16  work in, not only as a Committee, but when the City

         17  Council is in session, it is where you are, there

         18  are those desks that you see around.  And I hope

         19  that it would motivate you to say that you see how

         20  you are looking at us over here and I happen to be

         21  your Council person, well, in the same way that I

         22  could be sitting here with your parents when they

         23  elected me to come here, you could be here too, you

         24  know.  You could be here either being the Chair of

         25  the Committee like I am or members.  So I hope that
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          2  your visit to City Hall, kindles, puts a little

          3  light in you that everything is possible in life if

          4  you want it.

          5                 So let me then, to my colleagues,

          6  introduce to you, young men and women of the fourth

          7  and fifth grade, led by Ms. Wilson, and they happen

          8  to come from a Day Care Center in my district on

          9  Hart Street in the Bushwick Section of my district,

         10  and it's the Horace E. Green Day Care Center.  I

         11  want to personally welcome you, and let me just say

         12  that I knew personally, Horace E. Green, not only

         13  when he was a leader within our community, and also

         14  as a school board member, but I want you to know how

         15  life works. When I ran for the State Assembly he ran

         16  against me for the Assembly and I beat him, but that

         17  did not stop us from being friends.  And I hope that

         18  by me saying this and having you come in this

         19  Chamber and sitting before us and seeing your

         20  Council person introduce you to my colleagues and to

         21  the media, that, again, I say that just because you

         22  live in Bushwick or what people refer to, you know,

         23  that community where poor people happen to be, well,

         24  good people come out of places like Bushwick or

         25  Crown Heights or Elmhurst, or you name it, wherever
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          2  in the City.  This City has been, continues to be,

          3  and it will always be the City of Hope and

          4  Opportunity.  And by your visit, I hope that when

          5  you came here and you see this beautiful building

          6  that you would say, I want to come to work there,

          7  and I want you to keep saying that, and I want you

          8  to come to work here either as a Council person or

          9  big, big dreams, say, I want to be the Mayor of the

         10  City of New York.

         11                 So welcome to City Hall and I hope

         12  that you enjoy your stay here, thank you very much.

         13                 Seeing no other business before this

         14  Committee, I want to thank again my colleague,

         15  Council Member Una Clarke, for nudging me on this

         16  resolution.  I must tell you that I have learned a

         17  great deal, not only in terms of the testimony, but

         18  also the video, and I intend to pursue this issue.

         19  I want to personally thank my colleagues, and I will

         20  say that on May the 4th we will follow this up with

         21  having Commissioner Neal Cohen come before us.

         22                 Having nothing else before me, I

         23  adjourn these hearings.

         24                 (Hearing concluded at 12:00 p.m.)
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          2              CERTIFICATION

          3

          4

          5     STATE OF NEW YORK   )

          6     COUNTY OF NEW YORK  )

          7

          8

          9                 I, PAT WTULICH, a Notary Public in

         10  and for the State of New York, do hereby certify

         11  that the foregoing is a true and accurate transcript

         12  of the within proceeding.

         13                 I further certify that I am not

         14  related to any of the parties to this action by

         15  blood or marriage, and that I am in no way

         16  interested in the outcome of this matter.

         17                 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto

         18  set my hand this 6th day of April 1999.

         19

         20

         21

         22

         23

                                   ---------------------

         24                          PAT WTULICH
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          9            I, PAT WTULICH, do hereby certify the

         10  aforesaid to be a true and accurate copy of the

         11  transcription of the audio tapes of this hearing.
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         22                 -----------------------

                              PAT WTULICH
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